

Urological rehabilitation For women and men

Patient's guide Revision III



© Copyright 2024 by co-authors

Urological rehabilitation for women and men



Urological rehabilitation

for women and men

Patient's guide

Revision III

© Copyright 2024 by co-authors

© Copyright 2024 by co-authors

Prof. Kuba Ptaszkowski, PhD, UMED (Wroclaw Medical University) Prof. Małgorzata Paprocka Borowicz, MD, PhD, (Wroclaw Medical University) Prof. Tomasz Halski, PhD, UP (Jan Grodek State University in Sanok) Lucyna Ptaszkowska, PhD (University of Opole) Martyna Kasper-Jędrzejewska, PhD (University of Opole)

Publisher: Creator Sp. z o.o. Editors: Wojciech Fedyk, PhD (Wroclaw University of Health and Sport Sciences), Agata Grzelińska Translation: Euro-translator.pl Proofreading: Euro-translator.pl

This guide uses photographs by Jakub Wieczorek as well as Shutterstock Inc. and www.btlnet.pl images

All copyrights reserved, any modifications other than indicated use require the Authors' consent.

Cover design, typesetting and artwork: Andrzej Ślusarski

ISBN 978-83-950277-1-0

Publication paid for by the Medical University of Wrocław (SUBZ.E060.23.037)

Table of Contents

Introduction		7
1.	Urological rehabilitation for women and men	11
1.1.	Urological conditions as contemporary modern-age	
	diseases	13
1.2.	Diagnostic challenges in urological conditions	14
1.3.	Directions of rehabilitation development in urology and	
	urogynaecology	14
1.4.	Health care system development in the field of urological	
	rehabilitation	15
2.	Urinary incontinence	17
2.1.	Definition of urinary incontinence	18
2.2.	Stress incontinence	18
2.3.	Urge incontinence	19
2.4.	Overflow incontinence	19
2.5.	Risk factors	20
2.6.	Non-invasive treatment	21
3.	Preparation for urological and gynaecological surgery;	
	restoring fitness post-surgery	25
3.1.	Preoperative period	26
3.2.	Postoperative period	26
3.3.	Urological and gynaecological surgeries	27
4.	Comprehensive rehabilitation after prostatectomy	30
4.1.	Frequency and risk factors	31
4.2.	Radical prostatectomy	31
4.3.	Post-surgery complications – urinary	
	incontinence and erectile dysfunction	31
5.	Pelvic organ prolapse	35
5.1.	Symptoms and risk factors	35
5.2.	Diagnostics	36
5.3.	Treatment	37
6.	Perinatal rehabilitation	40
6.1.	Diastasis recti	40
6.2.	Pelvic floor strengthening	42

6.3.	Handling scars and adhesions	42
7.	Chronic pelvic pain	45
7.1.	Symptoms	45
7.2.	Causes	46
7.3.	Physiotherapy treatment	46
8.	Sexual disorders	49
8.1.	Sexual disorders in men – erectile dysfunction	49
8.2.	Sexual disorders in women - vulvodynia	50
9.	Contemporary methods and modern devices	
	in urological rehabilitation	54
	List of tables and figures	57

Introduction

Unintentional passing of urine, issues with frequent urination or, on the contrary, difficulties when performing this basic physiological function are, at first glance, an embarrassing affair. This is an ailment we are rather hesitant to admit to, as we believe it would be best if no one knew what inelegant issue we are battling. Nothing could be further from the truth – not only should we feel no shame, but also go see a doctor as soon as possible and undergo treatment! This is because urination problems are an alarm signal. Men in particular should neither hide nor ignore this issue, as it is often a symptom of a severe and often fatal illness – prostate cancer.

Guys like facts, so let's start with numbers. According to the National Cancer Register, in 2014-2018 the number of malignant prostate cancer cases in Poland increased by 25%. During this period, the number of deaths caused by this diseases increased by 20%. One should note that this trend occurred only in our country. In other EU member states, the prostate cancer mortality is dropping. In April 2021, *Annals of Oncology*, a journal published by the European Society for Medical Oncology, printed the result of a mortality rates analysis for several types of cancer, including the prostate cancer. Since 2015, the death rate for this disease in the EU decreased by 7%. With one exception – in Poland, it increased by 18% in the same period. The COVID-19 pandemic certainly does not help the situation.

The statistics are clear – postponing treatment usually ends tragically. This almost always happens if patients see doctors too late. What does it mean: "too late" mean? That's when the cancer is highly advanced. So why do so many people decide to have a check-up when the chances of recovery are minimal or non-existent? One of the reasons is shame. But much more often it is because there are no alarming symptoms, or because some, initially minor, problems are not treated as an alarm signal. Such signals may include the first sign of trouble with holding or releasing urine. These should never be ignored.

Even if difficulties with releasing or holding urine are not a sign of a prostate cancer, over the course of time they may hinder normal functioning. It begins with more frequent visits to the lavatory, getting up at night or soiling one's underwear, and ends with quitting one's job, abstaining from sexual activity, never leaving home, giving up one's social life and low self-esteem. For how can one function normally when finding a restroom is a must every few minutes?

The good news is this doesn't' have to, or even shouldn't be like that. Modern medicine offers numerous forms of effective treatment. There is only one condition – you have to seek it. First of all, it is worth to have a healthy lifestyle prolonged sitting, eating processed food, alcohol or cigarettes all favour the prostate cancer. But this is only the beginning. Prostate cancer can grow for years without causing any symptoms, which is why preventive screening is so important. Those over 50 should regularly have their PSA (prostate-specific antigen) level tested, and regularly see a urologist for check-ups. That's because in some cases the PSA values are not concerning, but the disease is already in progress.

If detected early, cancer is curable. Although most of us have heard this said on numerous occasions, there are many who still ignore first symptoms. But let us assume that we treated the issue responsibly and went to see a doctor after the warning signal in the form of issues with releasing or holding urine. What's next?

The next step is, of course, treatment, selected in accordance with the nature of the disease. In the case of prostate cancer, one of the treatment methods is surgery (radical prostatectomy). Urinary system issues may have various reasons. In men, these disorders usually manifest through difficulties with urination, caused by the prostate gland which grows with age and obstructs the bladder. On the other hand, urinary incontinence in men is usually related to past surgeries, pelvis injuries or side effects of radiotherapy. The percentage of complications in the form of urinary

incontinence varies (depending on the treatment facility and the method of assessing this issue) between a dozen or so and more than 40%.

This problem also affects a lot of women. In their case, stress urinary incontinence is the most common. This is one of the most frequent, chronic women's diseases. In some cases, it is one of the complications of childbirth. The estimated frequency is between 17% and 46%, and even 70% of the global female population. Only about 16-20% of the women with those symptoms see a doctor. This means that its frequency is most likely underestimated, as a lot of women hide this issue.

Urological rehabilitation is one of the forms of treating urinary incontinence. It should be noted that the aforesaid ailments can be removed, or at least significantly mitigated, using rehabilitation methods; most conditions can also be effectively treated with medication, while some require urological surgery. However, the basis for effective treatment is the correct and prompt diagnosis.

We give you the second edition of a guide concerning physio-therapy used to treat urinary tract diseases, while being fully aware that in Poland there is sadly still no modern system of a compre-hensive urological rehabilitation available as part of health insurance. We realize that as long as this service is not subsidized by the National Health Fund, it will only be available to patients in a limited capacity. In fact, those willing to undergo this type of therapy have to use commercial services. Still, we hope this will change soon. We are observing initiative and activities taken by medical associations, trade foundations and the National Chamber of Physiotherapy which seek to make urological rehabilitation part of the guaranteed benefit package. We are looking forward to this as much as you.

The role of this publication is to provide information which will help the patients notice their ailments. We created this guide to bring attention to the issue of urinary incontinence, and to make the public aware that correct and early diagnosis enables effective treatment at the early stages of the disease, when there are still no complications in the form of anatomical changes. One should also realize that lower urinary tract dysfunctions are not uncommon. It is estimated that in Poland they affect about 4 million people. The frequency of these diseases increases with age, which would suggest that the scale of the problem grows along with the human lifespan.

I am convinced that this next edition of the guide you see before you will explain many problems, but first of all attract attention to issues which have so far been underestimated. Their earlier reco-gnition and quick treatment will ensure much better therapeutic effect. So it is worth to overcome shame and seek help, not just to save one's life, but also to ensure its best possible quality.

Prof. Romuald Zdrojowy, MD, PhD

Chapter 1

Urological rehabilitation for women and men

Urological physiotherapy, or more broadly defined urological rehabilitation, is becoming a field of growing interest from the public. This involves higher awareness of physiotherapy, as well as ailments such as urinary incontinence and other dysfunctions of the urogenital system. Urological rehabilitation should be carried out by an experienced, multidisciplinary team, consisting of a physician, a psychologist, a physiotherapist, a nurse and a dietician.



Fig. 1. Interdisciplinary team in urological rehabilitation

Source: own study

In urology, physiotherapy is involved in both pre- and postoperative process. It includes: exercises preventing ailments of the urinary tract, anticlotting exercises, breathing exercises, or postoperative scar treatment. Physiotherapy is also an important part of treating urinary incontinence and other pelvic floor dysfunctions. Rehabilitation programmes for these ailments depict a certain manner of conduct which should be carried out by

an experienced therapeutic team. This study includes a brief description of the aforementioned issues. It shall also discuss various forms of activities and treatments used in the therapy of urinary incontinence and other pelvic disorders (fig. 2).

Table 1. Urological rehabilitation for women and men – ailments treated

Urological rehabilitation for women and men

- Preparation for surgical, urological and gynaecological treatment, restoring functions post-surgery
- Urinary incontinence
- Comprehensive rehabilitation after prostatectomy
- Pelvic organ prolapse
- Perinatal rehabilitation
- Chronic pelvic pain
- Sexual disorders

Source: own study

1.1. Urological conditions as contemporary modern-age diseases

Urological conditions pose a great challenge for the contemporary medicine and rehabilitation. Patients suffering from these ailments complain about deteriorating quality of life and numerous constraints on their professional and private activities. Sedentary lifestyle, poor eating habits and stress contribute to a rapid growth of the urinary tract problems.

In men, the initial symptoms of ailments regarding this system may be mild. But they should be a warning signal and make the patients see their urologists more often. These symptoms include a frequent sense of urinary urgency, abdominal pain, interrupted and weak urine stream, sense of incomplete bladder emptying, or droplet urine leaks. All these symptoms may signal milder ailments, such as urinary tract infection or a mild prostatic hypertrophy. But they may also mean a serious illness, such as prostate or bladder cancer. Unfortunately, at the early stages, many of these illnesses produce no symptoms, which is why appropriate prevention and frequent, specialist diagnostics are crucial.

In women, the symptoms of urinary incontinence or pelvic prolapse are significant contributors to reducing their daily activity level and quality of life. Gynaecological (urogynaecological) care should also be oriented towards these ailments. Rehabilitation must also be commonly available.

One should realize that the urogenital tract issues in women of different ages affect up to 70% of the population, and in men – up to 50% (depending on the patient's age and medical history). The scale is enormous, and – consequently – there is a growing demand for highly specialized, generally available care, particularly reimbursable. At specific stages of therapy, many of the aforesaid ailments require modern rehabilitation. It is a component of the therapeutic process, increasingly valued in Poland, which is still hardly accessible to many patients, due to the cost or lack of specialist laboratories. This is becoming a significant challenge for the contemporary medicine and health care system.

1.2. Diagnostic challenges in urological conditions

The stage of diagnostics (especially early diagnostics) plays a key role in the process of diagnosing and treating patients with urinary tract conditions. Due to a number of medical and social factors, the detectability of such diseases in Polish patients is relatively low, especially compared to other western European countries. The aforesaid factors may be related to insufficient knowledge of the medical staff, patients and their families regarding the necessity and possibilities of diagnosing and treating the illness. Early diagnosis is frequently made impossible by the patients' fear of seeing a doctor, especially when the issue concerns sensitive and intimate matters, such as the urinary tract ailments.

Therefore, it is vitally important to keep motivating the patients to see specialist, in order to ensure complete and efficient diagnostics. Information campaigns, various open days and happenings encouraging the public to control their own health are important.

It is crucial to develop new solutions in the scope of treatment and rehabilitation availability for patients with urinary tract conditions, which should appear in the Polish health care system. One of those solutions could be a broader, free access to specialists and personalized urological and urogynaecological rehabilitation.

1.3. Directions of rehabilitation development in urology and urogynaecology

The rapidly growing number of patients with urinary incontinence or other dysfunctions of the lower urinary tract requires medical staff and research teams to seek and develop innovative, effective therapeutic methods. It is important to personalize the approach to the patients – the therapy should take into account their subjective feelings. According to the European Association of Urology, pelvic floor disorder treatment should be primarily non-invasive, coordinated rehabilitation is a crucial component. Broadly-defined pelvic floor rehabilitation includes: change of health habits, employment of physical therapy biofeedback, manual therapy or exercises to strengthen the pelvic floor muscles.

Physical procedures in the treatment of ailments such as urinary incontinence or weak pelvic floor muscles mostly involve electrotherapy. Yet, new and more efficient methods should be researched, in order to reduce the occurrence of these symptoms. Other physical therapy methods applied in urological rehabilitation include laser therapy and magnet therapy. Nowadays, stimulation with highly inductive electromagnetic field is becoming increasingly common. Manufacturers of specialist medical equipment recommend this treatment as an effective, comprehensive, non-invasive and safe method, also for treatment of urinary incontinence and pelvic floor pain. It is emphasized that this method effects stimulation of the peripheral nervous system, stimulates the muscles, improves the collagen structures and circulation.

Urological and urogynaecological rehabilitation conducted by physicians and physiotherapists focuses on a comprehensive, individualized approach to the patient, preceded by appropriate diagnostics. It is important for the applied therapeutic procedure to take into account the nature of the problem and ensure professional approach of the interdisciplinary team, accounting for the patient's dignity and privacy.

1.4. Health care system development in the field of urological rehabilitation

It is crucial to provide the patients in Poland with general access to treatment of urological conditions. This stems from the articulated expectations of the society, increasing awareness of the patients or the need for improving their quality of life. In order for the access to these services to be universal and equal for everyone, it is necessary to provide systemic support in the form of reimbursed treatment, particularly when it comes to rehabilitation.

In 2021, the National Physiotherapy Chamber took more decisive steps regarding the need for adding reimbursed urogynaecological physiotherapy to the list of reimbursed medical services. Representatives of the National Physiotherapy Chamber emphasize that access to urogynaecological physiotherapy services is highly limited.

This stems from lack of any systemic solution implementing a comprehensive diagnostic and therapeutic procedure for certain urological and urogynaecological conditions as part of guaranteed services. Limited access to urological rehabilitation is also related to lack of awareness among the patients, but also among medical professionals (physicians, obstetricians, physiotherapists) regarding the importance of physiotherapy in treatment of these conditions.

Currently, the physiotherapeutic care as part of such rehabilitation is insufficient and focuses mostly on services provided commercially, in private facilities. Therefore, an urgent introduction of reimbursed services concerning urological and urogynaecological rehabilitation is a very topical challenge for the health care system in Poland. It will be a response to the need of the moment.

Chapter 2

Urinary incontinence

Urinary incontinence is an ailment with a detrimental impact on all the aspects of life, by restricting the daily functioning. Both increased awareness of the patients regarding this condition and better access to diagnostics and treatment make it possible to significantly improve the quality of life of those afflicted with this condition. Physiotherapy is a significant component of non-invasive treatment and as such it should be the first-stage therapy. Comprehensive physiotherapeutic treatment relies heavily on pelvic floor muscles training, behavioural therapy and electrical stimulation. It is worth to emphasize that the effectiveness of physiotherapy, particularly pelvic floor muscle exercises, in patients with stress incontinency is observed irrespective of the age of the rehabilitees.



Fig. 2. Urinary incontinence in men and women

Source: Shutterstock Inc.

2.1. Definition of urinary incontinence

Urinary incontinence means involuntary loss of urine, diagnosed objectively, which constitutes a sanitary problem and significantly degrades the patient's quality of life. This definition was proposed by the International Continence Society, whose tasks include defining the standards for diagnosis, classification and treatment of this dysfunction. According to the Society, the following types of incontinence can be defined (general classification):

- stress (and mixed),
- urge,
- overflow,
- extrasphinteric (e.g. fistula).

2.2. Stress incontinence

The most common form is stress incontinence, classified according to advancement of the symptoms (table 1).

Table 2. Degrees of stress incontinence

- 1. Minor loss of urine during intense physical effort while standing.
- 2. Loss of urine occurs during the daily routine, and when the abdominal prelum is activated while coughing, sneezing, laughing, mainly while standing and when changing body position.
- 3. Loss of urine occurs both while standing and lying, constantly, with very little effort or no effort at all.

Source: study based on Stamey (Surg Gynecol Obstet. 1973 Apr; 136(4):547-54.)

Stress urinary incontinence occurs when the pressure inside the bladder filling with urine exceeds the force of the closed urethral sphincter. Every bit of extra pressure on the bladder (e.g. laugher or sneeze) may cause urine to leak out of the urethra. This is because the urethra cannot stay closed if the pelvic floor muscles are weak or damaged, or if the urethral sphincter (ring of muscle) which keeps the urethra closed is damaged. These ailments may be caused by structural damage during natural childbirth, increased pressure on the bladder (e.g. due to pregnancy or obesity), damage to the bladder or the surrounding area during surgery (e.g. hysterectomy or prostatectomy), neurogenic disorders affecting the nerve function of the bladder (Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis). Use of certain medication may be another cause.

2.3. Urge incontinence

This type of affliction is characterized by an urgent and frequent need to urinate. It may be caused by issues with the detrusor muscle found in the wall of the bladder. The detrusor muscle remains relaxed to allow the bladder to store urine, and contracts during urination. Sometimes this muscle contracts too often, causing a sudden urge to find a restroom. This is called an overactive bladder. The reason why the detrusor muscle contracts too often may not be obvious. Possible causes include:

- drinking too much alcohol or caffeine,
- drinking too little liquids (which may cause highly concentrated urine to accumulate in the bladder, irritating it and causing symptoms of hyperactivity),
- constipations,
- conditions affecting lower urinary tract (such as urinary tract infections or bladder tumours),
- Interstitial cystitis,
- previous bladder and prostate surgeries,
- neurological conditions,
- certain medications.

2.4. Overflow incontinence

Overflow incontinence, also referred to as chronic urinary retention, is often caused by a blockage or obstruction of the bladder or urethra. The bladder may fill up normally, but – because of the obstruction – it cannot completely empty, even with effort. At the same time, the pressure inside the bladder increases, which may cause frequent, uncontrolled urine leaks. Urine outflow may be obstructed by: enlarged prostate (in men), constriction of the urethra after diagnostic and therapeutic treatment of the urinary tract, catheterization, tumours of the pelvis, urethra, or bladder, gallstones, constipation.

This type of incontinence may also be caused by incomplete contraction of the detrusor muscle, which means that the bladder does not empty completely during urination. This muscle may not completely contract due to nerve damage (e.g. caused by intestinal surgery or spinal cord damage) and when taking certain medications.

2.5. Risk factors

Urinary incontinence is a social problem – according to various estimates, it may affect 20 to 60% of women and about 10% of men. Risk factors include:

- natural childbirth,
- hormonal deficiencies during the perimenopausal period,
- previous surgeries in the pelvis minor area,
- radiotherapy in the pelvis minor area,
- congenital defects.
- damaged constrictors (prostate surgeries)
- benign prostatic hyperplasia
- surgeries in the anus area

Apart from typical reasons, there are also factors which may increase the risk of urinary incontinence, but are not the cause of the issue. These include:

- family medical history there may be a genetic connection with urinary incontinence,
- progressing age urinary incontinence becomes more frequent in middle-aged people, and very frequent in those over 80 years old,
- existing symptoms of lower urinary tract conditions a number of them affects the bladder and the urethra.

Certain medications may disrupt the normal process of urine accumulation and release, or increase its volume. This group includes:

- angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors,
- diuretics,
- certain antidepressants,
- hormonal replacement therapy,
- tranquilizers,
- medications used to treat benign prostatic hyperplasia.

20

2.6. Non-invasive treatment

Non-invasive therapies used to treat patients for urinary incontinence include physiotherapeutic methods, such as:

- behavioural therapy,
- pelvic floor muscle training (Kegel exercises)
- pelvic floor muscle training with biofeedback,
- bladder training,
- physical therapy (e.g. electrical stimulation).



Source: Shutterstock Inc.

Physiotherapy should be used to prevent conditions such as urinary incontinence, but it can also be a method of choice in non-invasive treatment. Both in this case and in prophylaxis we should remember about comprehensive utilization of physiotherapy, taking into account: kinesiotherapy, physical therapy and behavioural therapy.

At the early stages of treatment, medical history, along with medical and physiotherapeutic diagnostics, are very important. Collecting information about the patient should include medical diagnoses and test results (e.g. urodynamic and ultrasound tests, urine analysis).

Table 3. Urinary incontinence – questions and answers

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Question 1

How does urinary incontinence relate to age?

Answer 1

Urinary incontinence should not be considered a normal effect of ageing. Patients of advanced age should basically be assessed in the same manner as everyone else. This ailment is certainly most common in older patients, but it also happens in children, young people and adults.

Question 2

Is urinary incompetence an issue present in diabetes?

Answer 2

It is certainly observable in diabetics. Mismanaged and long-term diabetes may contribute to the occurrence of these symptoms. Diabetics tend to empty their bladder to a lesser extent and are slightly prone to overflow incontinence. But they may also suffer from stress incontinence, and therefore require a complete assessment before the treatment.

Question 3

What are the main causes of urinary incontinence in men and women? Answer 3

In men, prostate problems are probably the most common cause of urinary incontinence. Whereas in women, pregnancy and natural childbirth are the most likely contributors to this ailment.

Question 4

Can urinary incompetence appear and disappear? Answer 4

Yes, it may be so, depending on the cause. For instance, certain patients complain of stress incontinence only when they have a cold and cough, or during periods of strenuous activity. Patients with urinary incontinence often report increased leaks during cold spells. Sometimes it is related to dietary factors, such as excessive consumption of fluids, particularly those containing caffeine.

Source: own study

Works cited

Abrams, P., Cardozo, L., Fall, M., Griffiths, D., Rosier, P., Ulmsten, U., van Kerrebroeck, P., Victor, A., & Wein, A. (2002). The standardisation of terminology of lower urinary tract function: Report from the Standardisation Sub-committee of the International Continence Society. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 187(1), 116–126.

Amaro, J. L., Moreira, E. C. H., De Oliveira Orsi Gameiro, M., & Padovani, C. R. (2005). Pelvic floor muscle evaluation in incontinent patients. International Urogynecology Journal and Pelvic Floor Dysfunction, 16(5), 352–354.https://doi.org/10.1007/s00192-004-1256-3.

Ayeleke, R. O., Hay-Smith, E. J. C., & Omar, M. I. (2013). Pelvic floor muscle training added to another active treatment versus the same active treatment alone for urinary incontinence in women. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 11, Cd010551. https://doi.horg/10.1002/14651858.CD010551.pub2

Berghmans, B., van Waalwijk van Doorn, E., Nieman, F., de Bie, R., van den Brandt, P., & Van Kerrebroeck, P. (2002). Efficacy of physical therapeutic modalities in women with proven bladder overactivity. European Urology, 41(6), 581–587.

Betschart, C., Mol, S. E., Lütolf-Keller, B., Fink, D., Perucchini, D., & Scheiner, D. (2013). Pelvic floor muscle training for urinary incontinence: A comparison of outcomes in premenopausal versus postmenopausal women. Female Pelvic Medicine & Reconstructive Surgery, 19(4), 219–224. https://doi.org/10.1097/SPV.0b013e31829950e5.

Bo, K., Berghmans, B., Morkved, S., & Kampen, M. V. (2014). Evidence-Based Physical Therapy for the Pelvic Floor: Bridging Science and Clinical Practice. Elsevier Health Sciences.

Fitz, F. F., Resende, A. P. M., Stüpp, L., Sartori, M. G. F., Girão, M. J. B. C., & Castro, R. A. (2012). Biofeedback for the treatment of female pelvic floor muscle dysfunction: A systematic review and meta-analysis. International Urogynecology Journal, 23(11), 1495–1516. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00192-012-1707-1

Pereira, V. S., Correia, G. N., & Driusso, P. (2011). Individual and group pelvic floor muscle training versus no treatment in female stress urinary incontinence: A randomized controlled pilot study. European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology, 159(2), 465–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejogrb.2011.09.003

Ptaszkowski, K., Paprocka-Borowicz, M., Słupska, L., Bartnicki, J., Dymarek, R., Rosińczuk, J., Heimrath, J., Dembowski, J., & Zdrojowy, R. (2015). Assessment of bioelectrical activity of synergistic muscles during pelvic floor muscles activation in postmenopausal women with and without stress urinary incontinence: A preliminary observational study. Clinical Interventions in Aging, 10, 1521–1528. https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA.S89852

Stamey, T. A. (1973). Endoscopic suspension of the vesical neck for urinary incontinence. Surgery, Gynecology & Obstetrics, 136(4), 547–554.

Le Berre, M...., Filiatrault, J., Reichetzer, B., Kairy, D., Lachance, C., & Dumoulin, C. (2024). Online Group-based Pelvic Floor Muscle Training for Urinary Incontinence in Older Women: a Pilot Study. International urogynecology journal, 10.1007/s00192-024-05728-0. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00192-024-05728-0

Gordon, C., Davidson, C. E., Roffe, C., Clegg, A., Booth, J., Lightbody, C. E., Harris, C., Sohani, A., & Watkins, C. (2024). Evaluating methods of detecting and determining the type of urinary incontinence in adults after stroke: A systematic review. Neurourology and urodynamics, 43(2), 364–381. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.25330

Ptaszkowski, K., Małkiewicz, B., Zdrojowy, R., Paprocka-Borowicz, M., & Ptaszkowska, L. (2021). Assessment of the Elastographic and Electromyographic of Pelvic Floor Muscles in Postmenopausal Women with Stress Urinary Incontinence Symptoms. Diagnostics (Basel, Switzerland), 11(11), 2051. https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics11112051 Chu, L., Jin, X., Wu, S., Tong, X., Li, H., & Chen, X. (2024). Effect of Pelvic Floor Muscle Training With Smartphone Reminders on Women in the Postpartum Period: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Urogynecology (Philadelphia, Pa.), 30(2), 138–146.

https://doi.org/10.1097/SPV.000000000001401

Le Berre, M...., Filiatrault, J., Reichetzer, B., Kairy, D., Lachance, C., & Dumoulin, C. (2024). Online Group-based Pelvic Floor Muscle Training for Urinary Incontinence in Older Women: a Pilot Study. International urogynecology journal, 10.1007/s00192-024-05728-0. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00192-024-05728-0

Kasper-Jędrzejewska, M...., Starzec-Proserpio, M., Paprocka-Borowicz, M., Kawka, S., Halski, T., & Ptaszkowski, K. (2024). The effects of one-time soft tissue therapy on pelvic floor muscle electromyographic signals in women with urinary incontinence: A randomized intervention trial. Neurourology and urodynamics, 43(2), 320–328. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.25354

Ptaszkowski, K., Malkiewicz, B., Zdrojowy, R., Paprocka-Borowicz, M., & Ptaszkowska, L. (2020). The Prognostic Value of the Surface Electromyographic Assessment of Pelvic Floor Muscles in Women with Stress Urinary Incontinence. Journal of clinical medicine, 9(6), 1967. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9061967

Chapter 3

Preparation for urological and gynaecological surgery; restoring fitness post-surgery

The goal of the rehabilitation accompanying surgeries is to restore the patient to the pre-surgery level of functioning as soon as possible, and to treat post-surgery complications and functional disorders. It is equally important to prevent these complications and disorders. These goals are achieved by maintaining proper lung ventilation, ensuring proper vascular outflow from the lower limbs, early activation and verticalization, as well as general fitness exercises. The pre-surgery treatment consists of: preoperative period, surgery and postoperative period.



Fig. 4. Pre- and postoperative rehabilitation

Source: Shutterstock Inc.

3.1. Preoperative period

This period is very important from the perspective of rehabilitation and restoring fitness after the surgery. Before surgery, it is worth consulting an experienced physiotherapist, in order to prepare for the surgery in a proper manner. The preoperative period should include such activities as:

- preventing immobility (physical idleness),
- learning exercises to be done after the surgery,
- normalization of the cardiovascular system functional disorders

During this time, the patients should learn how to function properly after the surgery. During the preoperative period, the patients should learn how to perform:

- breathing exercises (compensatory breathing training, with emphasis in the proper length of inhalation and exhalation),
- effective coughing training (position reducing wound tension, wound stabilization),
- anti-embolic exercises,
- turning over, getting out of bed,
- general rehabilitation exercises (particularly those expanding the range of movement for the joints important for breathing and increasing the strength of the respiratory muscles),
- surgery-specific exercises

3.2. Postoperative period

In this period, the goal of the physiotherapeutic treatment is to restore the patient to their daily activities as quickly and efficiently as possible, while retaining maximum safety of the therapy.

In the early postoperative period, rehabilitation involves:

- reduction of pain
- reduction of swelling,
- preventing muscular weakness,
- minimizing the risk of blood clots,
- preventing scar hypertrophy and formation of adhesions,
- improving the range and quality of movement,
- educating the patient in the scope of proper movement habits and the correct performance of daily activities.

3.3. Urological and gynaecological surgeries

In the case of urology and urogynaecology, rehabilitation should be offered to those about to undergo one of the following surgeries:

- removal of kidney, bladder or prostate (nephrectomy, cystectomy, prostatectomy) due to neoplasms,
- prostate and bladder surgeries (e.g. TURB and TURP),
- hysterectomy,
- oophrectomy, myomectomy,
- surgical endometriosis treatment,
- surgical treatment of stress urinary incontinence or pelvic prolapse,
- caesarean section.

Table 4. Pre- and postoperative period – questions and answers

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Question 1

Will my physical activity be limited after the

surgery?

Answer 1

It is crucial to stay active, even during the post-surgical convalescence. Daily walks will accelerate the healing process, reduce depression and increase muscle strength. The post-surgery wound takes about 6 weeks to heal completely. During this time, one should refrain from intensive, strenuous exercises. It is also important not to climb too many stairs.

Question 2

What happens before the surgery?

Answer 2

Usually, you will be admitted to the hospital the day before the surgery. The anaesthesiological team will discuss the type of anaesthesia with you. Usually, the patients stay in hospital for 6 to 8 days. The surgery itself may take anywhere between several dozen minutes to several hours.

Question 3

What is hysterectomy?

Answer 3

It is a surgery consisting in removal of the uterus. There are 3 main types of hysterectomy:

- total the surgeon removes the uterus and the cervix,
- subtotal removal of the uterus, leaving the cervix in place,
- radical complete removal of the uterus and the adjacent tissues, usually due to cancer.

Question 4

What other organs may be removed during hysterectomy? Answer 4

It is possible to remove fallopian tubes and/or ovaries as well as the adjacent tissues, upper vagina, as well as the adjacent lymph nodes.

Source: own study

Works cited

Barber, M. D., Kenton, K., Janz, N. K., Hsu, Y., Dyer, K. Y., Greer, W. J., White, A., Meikle, S., & Ye, W. (2012). Validation of the activities assessment scale in women undergoing pelvic reconstructive surgery. Female Pelvic Medicine & Reconstructive Surgery, 18(4), 205–210. https://doi.org/10.1097/SPV.0b013e31825e6422

Campbell, S. E., Glazener, C. M., Hunter, K. F., Cody, J. D., & Moore, K. N. (2012). Conservative management for postprostatectomy urinary incontinence. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 1, Cd001843.https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD001843.pub4

Cui, H. W., Turney, B. W., & Griffiths, J. (2017). The Preoperative Assessment and Optimization of Patients Undergoing Major Urological Surgery. Current Urology Reports, 18(7), 054. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11934-017-0701-z

Geraerts, I., Van Poppel, H., Devoogdt, N., Joniau, S., Van Cleynenbreugel, B., De Groef, A., & Van Kampen, M. (2013). Influence of preoperative and postoperative pelvic floor muscle training (PFMT) compared with postoperative PFMT on urinary incontinence after radical prostatectomy:

A randomized controlled trial. European Urology, 64(5), 766–772.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2013.01.013

Mayekar, R. V., Bhosale, A. A., Kandhari, K. V., Nandanwar, Y. S., & Shaikh, S. S. (2017). A study of transobturator tape in stress urinary incontinence. Urology Annals, 9(1), 9. https://doi.org/10.4103/0974-7796.198867

Morin, M., Bourbonnais, D., Gravel, D., Dumoulin, C., & Lemieux, M.-C. (2004). Pelvic floor

muscle function in continent and stress urinary incontinent women using dynamometric measurements. Neurourology and Urodynamics, 23(7), 668–674. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.20069

Mungovan, S. F., Carlsson, S. V., Gass, G. C., Graham, P. L., Sandhu, J. S., Akin, O., Scardino, P. T., Eastham, J. A., & Patel, M. I. (2021). Preoperative exercise interventions to optimize continence outcomes following radical prostatectomy. Nature Reviews. Urology. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41585-021-00445-5

Mykoniatis, I., Pyrgidis, N., Sokolakis, I., Ouranidis, A., Sountoulides, P., Haidich, A.-B., van Renterghem, K., Hatzichristodoulou, G., & Hatzichristou, D. (2021). Assessment of Combination Therapies vs Monotherapy for Erectile Dysfunction: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Network Open, 4(2), e2036337.https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.36337

Rammant, E., Deforche, B., Van Hecke, A., Verhaeghe, S., Van Ruymbeke, B., Bultijnck, R., Van Hemelrijck, M., Fox, L., Pieters, R., Decaestecker, K., & Fonteyne, V. (2021). Development of a pre-and postoperative physical activity promotion program integrated in the electronic health system of patients with bladder cancer (The POPEYE study): An intervention mapping approach. European Journal of Cancer Care, 30(2), e13363. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecc.13363

Wang, X., Ding, Y., Cai, H.-Y., You, J., Fan, F.-Q., Cai, Z.-F., & An, P. (2020). Effectiveness of modified complex decongestive physiotherapy for preventing lower extremity lymphedema after radical surgery for cervical cancer: A randomized controlled trial. International Journal of Gynecological Cancer: Official Journal of the International Gynecological Cancer Society, 30(6), 757–763. https://doi.org/10.1136/ijgc-2019-000911

Chapter 4

Comprehensive rehabilitation after prostatectomy

Prostate cancer is a malignant tumour of the prostate (epithelial). Indicated risk factors which may affect the development of this illness include age, genetic encumbrance, race. At the early stage of growth, prostate cancer produces no significant symptoms. But if they do appear, they resemble the symptoms of benign prostatic hyperplasia: painful urination, sense of constant urge to urinate, difficulties with starting micturition (urination), narrow urine stream, frequent, nightly trips to the bathroom, crotch and abdominal pain, and sometimes dysuria. Another early symptom of this cancer may be blood in urine or sperm (hematuria, haematospermia). Thanks to the common diagnostics of determining the prostate-specific antigen (PSA), in most cases this condition is diagnosed at the asymptomatic stage. The recommended treatment is often surgical prostate removal (radical prostatectomy). Its complications include urinary incontinence and erectile dysfunction. These ailments have predominantly negative impact on the quality of life, which is why proper diagnostics and classification of the patients in terms of symptom intensity are so important.



Fig. 5. Prostate

Source: Shutterstock Inc.

4.1. Frequency and risk factors

Prostate cancer is globally the fifth most common type of cancer. It is one of the most frequently diagnosed types of cancer in men, in Europe and North America. According to the National Cancer Register, in 2018 the prostate cancer was first in terms of incidence (19.6%) and second in terms of mortality (10.1%) among malicious cancers in Poland. It is usually diagnosed in men between 65 and 74 years of age. The average age of the patients in whom it is diagnosed is 72.3 years.

The incidence depends on the age of the men, but genetic predisposition is an important risk factor. The risk of prostate cancer in a man is 2-3 times higher if his direct relative (brother or father) had this cancer. Other significant risk factors include diet rich with saturated fatty acids and cigarette smoking. Whereas vegetarian diet, particularly soy components (such as lignans, isoflavonoids, flavonoids and lycopene) provide protection. It is also beneficial to eat more vegetables and fruit rich with pectin, vitamin E and D, selenium and beta-carotene

4.2. Radical prostatectomy

Patients with non-metastasized cancer have a chance of a complete recovery. In this case, it includes radical methods, such as surgery and radiotherapy. According to the recommendations of the European Urological Association, the standard surgical procedure for non-metastasized cancer is radical prostatectomy. This surgical cancer treatment involves removal of the entire prostate gland between the urethra and the bladder. This procedure can be completely successful if the entire cancerous growth is removed.

4.3. Post-surgery complications – urinary incontinence and erectile dysfunction

Urinary incontinence is one of the most common and unpleasant complications of radical prostatectomy. Although certain patients regain continence (the ability to hold urine), a lot of them struggle with this issue for a very long time. It restricts their daily activities, makes them feel helpless, embarrassed, and often drives them away from an active life. The primary non-surgical treatment method after radical prostatectomy is non-invasive treatment. It is based on pelvic floor muscle exercises, biofeedback techniques and electrical stimulation. According to some of the sources, urinary incontinence occurs in almost 100% patients after prostatectomy. On the other hand, the European Association of Urology reports that the occurrence of early postoperative stress incontinence fluctuates between 0.8 and 87%, while incontinence lasting longer than 1 year after the surgery may affect less than 10% of the patients.

According to professional literature, urinary incontinence after radical prostatectomy was observed in 6-87% of the patients. Within the first 24 hours after this surgery (catheter removal), 10% of the patients are continent, within 14 days - 35%, and after 30 days, 2 months, 4 months and one year, this value is 47%, 65%, 81%, and 94%, respectively.

Urinary incontinence treatment after prostatectomy should include:

- pelvic floor muscle strength training (combined with biofeedback),
- electrical stimulation,
- behavioural therapy.

During early symptoms of urinary incontinence after radical prostatectomy, non-invasive treatment methods are the first-line treatment.

Another common complication of prostatectomy is erectile dysfunction. After introducing neurovascular bundle-sparing procedures, after 3 months 30% of the men got proper erections, after 6 months – about 40%, and about a year - 90%.

If unilateral nerve damage occurred, only about 40% of the patients were able to have an erection again. A survey conducted among patients who underwent this procedure revealed that only 9% of them have a complete erection, and 38% - partial erection. The suggested forms of diagnostics and treatment are discussed in chapter *Sexual disorders* (p. 40).

Table 5. Surgical prostatectomy – questions and answers

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Question 1

Is it normal for the patient to feel anxious or depressed after prostatectomy? Answer 1

Yes, these are natural reactions in this situation. Still, these feelings pass with time, when the men resume their normal activities and lifestyle.

Question 2

What are the side effects of prostatectomy?

Answer 2

The two most common ones are erectile dysfunction and urinary incontinence.

Question 3

Will I still be able to exercise after being discharged?

Answer 3

For a month or two after the surgery, the body repairs the physical damage caused by the surgery, while the incision (incisions) heals. You should refrain from physical exercises which increase the intra-abdominal pressure or put stress on the abdominal and pelvic area. Your physician will tell you when it is safe to resume your regular exercise.

Question 4

Are there any exercises one can do before and after prostatectomy? Answer 4

Apart from pelvic floor muscle exercises, they are: walking, bicycle riding and swimming, All of these are beneficial for the circulatory system and general health. Good physical condition is helpful when convalescing after prostate cancer surgery.

Source: own study

Works cited

Arab, A. M., & Chehrehrazi, M. (2011). The response of the abdominal muscles to pelvic floor muscle contraction in women with and without stress urinary incontinence using ultrasound imaging. Neurourology and Urodynamics, 30(1), 117–120. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.20959

Campbell, S. E., Glazener, C. M., Hunter, K. F., Cody, J. D., & Moore, K. N. (2012). Conservative management for postprostatectomy urinary incontinence. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 1, Cd001843.

https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD001843.pub4

Dubbelman, Y., Groen, J., Wildhagen, M., Rikken, B., & Bosch, R. (2010). The recovery of urinary continence after radical retropubic prostatectomy: A randomized trial comparing the effect of physiotherapist-guided pelvic floor muscle exercises with guidance by an instruction folder only. BJU International, 106(4), 515–522. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-410X.2010.09159.x

Geraerts, I., Van Poppel, H., Devoogdt, N., Joniau, S., Van Cleynenbreugel, B., De Groef, A., & Van Kampen, M. (2013). Influence of preoperative and postoperative pelvic floor muscle training (PFMT) compared with postoperative PFMT on urinary incontinence after radical prostatectomy: A randomized controlled trial. European Urology, 64(5), 766–772. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2013.01.013 Glazener, C., Boachie, C., Buckley, B., Cochran, C., Dorey, G., Grant, A., Hagen, S., Kilonzo, M., McDonald, A., McPherson, G., Moore, K., Norrie, J., Ramsay, C., Vale, L., & N'Dow, J. (2011). Urinary incontinence in men after formal one-to-one pelvic-floor muscle training following radical prostatectomy or transurethral resection of the prostate (MAPS): Two parallel randomised controlled trials. Lancet (London, England), 378(9788), 328–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60751-4

Goode, P. S., Burgio, K. L., Johnson, T. M., Clay, O. J., Roth, D. L., Markland, A. D., Burkhardt, J. H., Issa, M. M., & Lloyd, L. K. (2011). Behavioral therapy with or without biofeedback and pelvic floor electrical stimulation for persistent postprostatectomy incontinence: A randomized controlled trial. JAMA, 305(2), 151–159. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2010.1972

Moore, K. N., Valiquette, L., Chetner, M. P., Byrniak, S., & Herbison, G. P. (2008). Return to continence after radical retropubic prostatectomy: A randomized trial of verbal and written instructions versus therapist-directed pelvic floor muscle therapy. Urology, 72(6), 1280–1286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.urology.2007.12.034

Mungovan, S. F., Carlsson, S. V., Gass, G. C., Graham, P. L., Sandhu, J. S., Akin, O., Scardino, P. T., Eastham, J. A., & Patel, M. I. (2021). Preoperative exercise interventions to optimize continence outcomes following radical prostatectomy. Nature Reviews. Urology. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41585-021-00445-5

Yokoyama, T., Inoue, M., Fujita, O., Nozaki, K., Nose, H., & Kumon, H. (2005). Preliminary results of the effect of extracorporeal magnetic stimulation on urinary incontinence after radical prostatectomy: A pilot study. Urologia Internationalis, 74(3), 224–228.

https://doi.org/10.1159/000083553

Yokoyama, T., Nishiguchi, J., Watanabe, T., Nose, H., Nozaki, K., Fujita, O., Inoue, M., & Kumon, H. (2004). Comparative study of effects of extracorporeal magnetic innervation versus electrical stimulation for urinary incontinence after radical prostatectomy. Urology, 63(2), 264–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.urology.2003.09.024

Chapter 5

Pelvic organ prolapse

In women during menopause, but also after natural childbirth or surgeries, it is possible for the uterus, bladder and anus to prolapse, due to insufficiency and weakening of pelvic muscles. This causes a number of unpleasant ailments for the patients, including stress urinary incontinence, static disorders of the pelvis minor organs, or chronic pelvic pain. Strengthening of the pelvic floor muscles via standard exercises is a recognized method of prevention and non-invasive treatment of the aforesaid symptoms.

During perimenopause and early post-menopausal period, women undergo a number of systemic and psychological changes. It is believed that in this period, about 50% of women develop symptoms related to the urogenital system. The most common symptoms are:

- dyspareunia (pain during intercourse),
- vaginal dryness,
- difficult urination,
- urinary incontinence
- frequent urination,
- recurrent infections.

Weakening of the individual components of pelvis minor and pelvic floor may cause pathological symptoms related to disordered functions of these organs. This is why proper diagnostics and therapeutic process play a key role in preventing or limiting the extent of the aforesaid dysfunctions, particularly in women during menopause.

5.1. Symptoms and risk factors

Pelvic organ prolapse is characterized by descent of pelvic organs from their normal position. In women, this condition is usually caused by gynaecological surgery (e.g. cancer treatment), childbirth or heavy lifting. Significant prolapse occurs in about 10% of all the women. Risk factors include hysterectomy (surgical removal of the uterus), obesity, chronic cough, frequent constipations, pelvic organ tumours, or age.

Symptoms reported when taking medical history include: sensation of

a foreign body in the vagina, sensation of descended reproductive organs, difficult urination or defecation caused by a prolapsed organ.

5.2. Diagnostics

The diagnostics should start from a general medical history, including the specific number and course of childbirths, ailments during urination and defecation, therapies to date, medications taken and problems regarding sexual relations. Of particular importance is the urogynaecological examination, consisting in speculum examination and palpation of the pelvic floor, in order to determine the position of the reproductive organs, bladder and anus, both at rest and when pushing. Moreover, an ultrasound scan is made, to assess the directions of movement for the organs, or urine retention. It is also worth to perform a pessary test (test with a special ring, for the purposes of further diagnostics once the prolapsed organs are readjusted) and a cough test, which assesses the mobility of the urethra



Source: Shutterstock Inc.

5.3. Treatment

Prolapsed reproductive organs and/or bladder and/or anus are treated depending on the advancement of the condition, as well as specific ailments. It is always necessary to take the patient's age into account. In young women after natural childbirth, premenopausal (regardless of the extent of the pelvic floor prolapse) and postmenopausal women with a small degree of prolapse of the reproductive organs and bladder or intestine, it is recommended to introduce non-invasive treatment, including physiotherapy and pessary therapy (as explained in table 6). It is always worth to refer the patients to a urogynaecological physiotherapist, for pelvic floor muscles exercise. If the reproductive organ, bladder or anus prolapse is significant, various surgical methods are used (with vaginal, laparoscopic or abdominal access).

Table 6. Prolapsed pelvis minor organs – questions and answers

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Question 1

Is organ prolapse a serious condition?

Answer 1

It may be uncomfortable, especially if after walking or standing for a while you feel pressure on the pelvic floor or organ protrusion via the vagina. The good news is, organ prolapse is usually not life-threatening, and various forms of treatment are available. For most women, the therapy method depends on the severity of the symptoms. There are numerous noninvasive treatment methods, such as change of diet, physiotherapy and pelvic floor muscle exercise. Sometimes, organ prolapse is so bothersome that women decide to undergo surgery.

Question 2 What is a pessary?

Answer 2

Pessaries are plastic objects which can help treat organ prolapse. They are used in women who are hesitant to undergo surgery. Pessaries come in various shapes and sizes. They can be fitted to help women with various degrees and types of prolapse. Pessaries are safe to use and latex-free. If you decide to give a pessary a try, it will be matched in terms of size and shape in order to reduce the prolapse, without causing you any discomfort or pain. A well-fitted pessary will moderate the prolapse, provide comfort and will make urination and defection problem-free.

Question 3

What to do with a prolapse?

Answer 3

If you suffer from pelvic prolapse, avoid any activities which can make it worse: do not lift, do not tense, do not pull. If possible, try not to stand for prolonged periods of time. Some women feel greater pressure when they stand for a long time.

Question 4

Can pelvic prolapse be treated without surgery? Answer 4

You may be able to alleviate some of the symptoms on your own, without surgery, by doing the appropriate exercises to strengthen the pelvic muscles.

Source: own study

Piśmiennictwo

Alves, F. K., Riccetto, C., Adami, D. B. V., Marques, J., Pereira, L. C., Palma, P., & Botelho, S. (2015). A pelvic floor muscle training program in postmenopausal women: A randomized controlled trial. Maturitas, 81(2), 300–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2015.03.006

Aukee, P., Usenius, J.-P., & Kirkinen, P. (2004). An evaluation of pelvic floor anatomy and function by MRI. European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology, 112(1), 84–88.

Bø, K. (2012). Pelvic floor muscle training in treatment of female stress urinary incon-tinence, pelvic organ prolapse and sexual dysfunction. World Journal of Urology, 30(4), 437–443. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00345-011-0779-8

Braekken, I. H., Majida, M., Engh, M. E., & Bø, K. (2014). Are pelvic floor muscle thick-ness and size of levator hiatus associated with pelvic floor muscle strength, endurance and vaginal resting pressure in women with pelvic organ prolapse stages I-III? A cross sectional 3D ultrasound study. Neurourology and Urodynamics, 33(1), 115–120. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.22384

I. H., Majida, M., Engh, M. E., & Bø, K. (2014). Are pelvic floor muscle thick-ness and size of levator hiatus associated with pelvic floor muscle strength, endurance and vaginal resting pressure in women with pelvic organ prolapse stages I-III? A cross sectional 3D ultrasound study. Neurourology and Urodynamics, 33(1), 115–120. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.22384

Hagen, S., Stark, D., Glazener, C., Dickson, S., Barry, S., Elders, A., Frawley, H., Galea, M. P., Logan, J., McDonald, A., McPherson, G., Moore, K. H., Norrie, J., Walker, A., Wilson, D., & POPPY Trial Collaborators. (2014). Individualised pelvic floor muscle training in women with pelvic organ prolapse (POPPY): A multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet (London, England), 383(9919), 796–806. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61977-7

Hu, J.-M., Cheng, X., Wang, L., Zhu, J.-N., & Zhou, L.-H. (2013). Vasoactive intestinal peptide expression in the vaginal anterior wall of patients with pelvic organ prolapse. Taiwanese Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology, 52(2), 233–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tjog.2013.04.014

Tang, J.-H., Zhong, C., Wen, W., Wu, R., Liu, Y., & Du, L.-F. (2020). Quantifying Levator Ani Muscle Elasticity Under Normal and Prolapse Conditions by Shear Wave Elastography: A Preliminary Study. Journal of Ultrasound in Medicine: Official Journal of the American Institute of Ultrasound in Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1002/jum.15232

Thompson, J. A., & O'Sullivan, P. B. (2003). Levator plate movement during voluntary pelvic floor muscle contraction in subjects with incontinence and prolapse: A cross-sectional study and review. International Urogynecology Journal and Pelvic Floor Dysfunction, 14(2), 84–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00192-003-1036-5

Tinelli, A., Malvasi, A., Rahimi, S., Negro, R., Vergara, D., Martignago, R., Pellegrino, M., & Cavallotti, C. (2010). Age-related pelvic floor modifications and prolapse risk factors in postmenopausal women. Menopause (New York, N.Y.), 17(1), 204–212. https://doi.org/10.1097/gme.0b013e3181b0c2ae

Urdzík, P., Kalis, V., Blaganje, M., Rusavy, Z., Smazinka, M., Havir, M., Dudič, R., & Ismail, K. M.

(2020). Pelvic organ prolapse and uterine preservation: A survey of female gynecologists (POP-UP survey). BMC Women's Health, 20(1), 241. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-020-01105-3

Pizzoferrato, A. C., Deparis, J., Fritel, X., Rousseau, M., & Blanchard, V. (2024). Impact of educational workshops to increase awareness of pelvic floor dysfunction and integrate preventive lifestyle habits. International journal of gynaecology and obstetrics: the official organ of the International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics, 164(2), 596–604. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijgo.15130

Sun, Z. J., Tian, Z., Xu, T., Wang, Z. M., Zhu, X. H., Luo, J., Cheng, F., Gong, L., Zhang, J., Wang, L. H., Zhu, W. P., Qu, X. L., Lin, Z., Ge, W. P., Wang, B. N., & Zhu, L. (2024). Pelvic floor muscle strength and influencing factors based on vaginal manometry among healthy women at different life stages: A multicentre cross-sectional study. BJOG : an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology, 10.1111/1471-0528.17736. Advance online publication.

https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.17736

Ryhtä, I., Axelin, A., Parisod, H., Holopainen, A., & Hamari, L. (2023). Effectiveness of exercise interventions on urinary incontinence and pelvic organ prolapse in pregnant and postpartum women: umbrella review and clinical guideline development. JBI evidence implementation, 21(4), 394–408. https://doi.org/10.1097/XEB.00000000000391

Chapter 6

Perinatal rehabilitation

The period of pregnancy, when the women's life changes in numerous ways, is very important to her. The physiological and anatomical changes which take place in the woman's body during these nine months, combined with other factors, may affect the woman's quality of life during puerperium. There is a lot of emphasis on teaching women how to properly take care of themselves and the child during the pregnancy, but not much is said about the issues related to puerperium.

Puerperium is the period after childbirth, lasting 6-8 weeks, during which the changes which occurred in the woman's body during pregnancy and labour gradually subside – both in the entire body and the reproductive organs. The most common health problems which may appear during puerperium are: vascular thrombosis, stress urinary incontinence, diastasis recti (abdominal separation), reduced abdominal or pelvic floor muscle tone. This may favour abdominal and pelvic prolapse, unless the muscles can regain their proper tone. In order to prevent this, an appropriate therapy should be prescribed. First exercises should be started as soon as 12 hours after labour. The outpatient treatment after childbirth tend to focus on: stress urinary incontinence, diastasis recti, pelvic prolapse, post-operative wound care, as well as proper posture.

6.1. Diastasis recti

Diastasis recti means an excessive separation between the two sides of the rectus abdominis muscle, accompanied by expansion and weakening of linea alba. It results from mechanical and functional disorders in the anterior abdominal wall and the entire body. Due to individual structure of linea alba, the gap may differ in different people and vary along its individual sections. If the width of the gap between the two sides of the rectus abdominis muscle exceeds 2cm, it is deemed pathological. The separation may affect women and man of any age. It is, however, the most common in pregnant and postpartum women, resulting from the changes to the body caused by pregnancy.



Fig. 7. Diastasis recti

Source: Shutterstock Inc.

Diastasis recti disturbs proper functioning of the anterior abdominal wall muscles, which has a number of consequences not only in this area, but in the entire body. Abdominal muscles serve numerous important functions, like maintaining the proper posture, breathing and body bending, as well as ensuring urinary continence. The aesthetic defect in the form of "pregnancy belly" and the possibility of a hernia are not the only problems related to diastasis recti.

This condition usually affects pregnant women – even up to 100% right after childbirth, about 60% at the end of puerperium and about 30% within 12 months after childbirth. Statistically, 50% of women require rehabilitation due to diastasis recti. The most common type of rehabilitation involves exercises strengthening these muscles, but if they are done in the wrong order, they may actually increase the problem.

The main goal of physiotherapy is to restore optimal functioning of the body, mobility and flexibility of structures such as: diaphragm, chest, pelvis, constricted muscles, while strengthening of weakened muscles is only the next stage. There is no universal training, as each case of diastasis recti is different, with different causes and consequences. Some of the patients start the exercises from weakened abdominal muscles (superficial and deep), others – from overactive abdominal muscles, others still – from pelvic floor muscle training. But each of them should strive to balance out

the muscle tone. Apart from suitable physiotherapy, it is necessary to learn and pay attention to proper daily habits. These include:

- the proper technique of getting out of bed,
- the proper technique of sneezing, coughing and using the toilet,
- the proper technique of lifting and carrying the baby,
- assuming proper posture,
- avoiding heavy lifting,
- starting the exercise from strengthening the transverse abdominal muscle.

It is best to begin the physiotherapy treatment while still in puerperium.

6.2. Pelvic floor strengthening

It is estimated that postnatal urinary incompetence may occur in 15% (one natural childbirth) to 33% (for more than 3 labours) of women giving natural birth. In the case of caesarean section, this value is 3%. After natural childbirth, the muscles, ligaments and connective tissues within the birth canal and pelvis minor are cut or torn, stretch, crushed, while after C-section they may be relaxed.

It was observed that after one week the pelvic floor and perineal muscles are relatively tense when unloaded. After about 2 weeks, the supporting function of the pelvic floor is restored. Sometimes the pelvis minor structures are damaged to a greater extent, which may cause stress urinary incontinence (see: *Urinary incontinence*, p. 17), or pelvic organ prolapse (see: *Pelvic organ prolapse*, p. 34).

6.3. Handling scars and adhesions

Scars, usually considered solely in the aesthetic aspect, may not affect the functions of the body. But complications start if the wound was deep enough to damage the fascia and the tissues underneath. A scar is an area of fibrous tissue, usually caused by damage to the normal skin and the resulting wound repair process. Both scars and the underlying adhesions may cause disorders of mobility and the internal sliding of the tissues in the subcutaneous layers, which also undergo scarring. The goal of the therapy is to eliminate the tenderness, to tone the scar, to prevent or eliminate any existing adhesions, to tend to the scar. Before the therapy, the following factors should be considered: causes of the injury and type of the wound, the region of the body where the tissue damage occurred, time of healing, factors present during healing of the wound (wound infection, nutritional disorders). The therapy of the tissues adherent to the scar should be started once the wound heals completely. Usually, it takes 4 to 8 weeks.

Table 7. Perinatal period – questions and answers

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Question 1

Does pregnancy result in a permanent problem with urinary incontinence?

Answer 1

Certainly, not all the pregnant women are incontinent after childbirth. Yet, pregnancy may predispose you to it, especially in the case of natural childbirth.

Question 2

What is the cause of diastasis recti?

Answer 2

It is cause by prolonged, strong pressure on the posteriori side of the abdomen – linea alba (connective tissue running down along the middle of the abdominal wall. It may be caused by pregnancy, chronic constipations or traditional belly exercises done incorrectly.

Question 3

How long should I rest after childbirth?

Answer 3

Your recovery from childbirth will take more than a few days. A complete recovery after pregnancy and childbirth may take months. While many women feel healthy after only 6-weeks, others may need longer to feel like themselves again.

Question 4

Is it normal for my C-section scar to itch?

Answer 4

Itching is normal during the healing process. It may also be caused by thpublic hair growing back.

Works cited

Botelho, S., Pereira, L. C., Marques, J., Lanza, A. H., Amorim, C. F., Palma, P., & Riccetto, C. (2013). Is there correlation between electromyography and digital palpation as means of measuring pelvic floor muscle contractility in nulliparous, pregnant, and postpartum women? Neurourology and Urodynamics, 32(5), 420–423.https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.22321

Gluppe, S. L., Hilde, G., Tennfjord, M. K., Engh, M. E., & Bø, K. (2018). Effect of a Post-partum Training Program on the Prevalence of Diastasis Recti Abdominis in Postpartum Primiparous Women: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Physical Therapy, 98(4), 260–268.

https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/pzy008

Hilde, G., Stær-Jensen, J., Siafarikas, F., Ellström Engh, M., & Bø, K. (2013). Postpartum pelvic floor muscle training and urinary incontinence: A randomized controlled trial. Obstetrics and Gynecology, 122(6), 1231–1238.https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.000000000000012

Mady, M. M. (2018). Kinesiotaping Therapy Techniquesfor Treating Postpartum Rectus Diastases: A Comparative Study. IOSR Journal of Nursing and Health Science, 7(3), 67–74. https://doi.org/10.9790/1959-0703026774

Marques, J., Botelho, S., Pereira, L. C., Lanza, A. H., Amorim, C. F., Palma, P., & Riccetto, C. (2013). Pelvic floor muscle training program increases muscular contractility during first pregnancy and postpartum: Electromyographic study. Neurourology and Urodynamics, 32(7), 998–1003. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.22346

Mota, P., & Bo, A. G. P. and K. (2015, marzec 31). Diastasis Recti Abdominis in Pregnancy and Postpartum Period. Risk Factors, Functional Implications and Resolution. Current Women's Health Reviews. https://www.eurekaselect.com/134908/article

Rasmussen, K. L., Krue, S., Johansson, L. E., Knudsen, H. J. H., & Agger, A. O. (1997). Obesity as a predictor of postpartum urinary symptoms. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica, 76(4), 359–362. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0412.1997.tb07993.x

Sancho, M. F., Pascoal, A. G., Mota, P., & Bø, K. (2015). Abdominal exercises affect inter-rectus distance in postpartum women: A two-dimensional ultrasound study. Physiotherapy, 101(3), 286–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physio.2015.04.004

Thabet, A. A., & Alshehri, M. A. (2019). Efficacy of deep core stability exercise program in postpartum women with diastasis recti abdominis: A randomised controlled trial. Journal of Musculoskeletal & Neuronal Interactions, 19(1), 62–68.

van Delft, K., Sultan, A. H., Thakar, R., Schwertner-Tiepelmann, N., & Kluivers, K. (2014). The relationship between postpartum levator ani muscle avulsion and signs and symptoms of pelvic floor dysfunction. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, 121(9), 1164–1171; discussion 1172. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.12666

Chapter 7

Chronic pelvic pain

Chronic pelvic pain is pain in the pelvic region which lasts 6 months or longer. Chronic pain may appear and disappear, it may also be constant. Sometimes, it occurs in regular cycles. For instance, it may only appear during menstruation. It may also appear at specific moments, for instance before or after eating, during urination or sexual intercourse.

Fig. 8. Chronic pelvic pain

Source: Shutterstock Inc.

7.1. Symptoms

The pain symptoms are described as:

- strong and constant pain,
- recurring pain,
- dull pain,
- sharp pain or cramps,
- pressure or heaviness deep inside the pelvis.

Other reported symptoms include:

- pain during intercourse,
- pain during defecation or urination,
- pain after prolonged sitting.

The discomfort may grow worse after standing for a while, and subside after lying down. The pain may be mild or so strong it hinders work, sleep or physical activity.

7.2. Causes

Chronic pelvic pain is a complex condition which may have numerous causes. Sometimes, it is caused by a single disorder. But in other cases, it may result from several ailments. For instance, in women, it may be related to endometriosis, and in men-to prostatic hyperplasia.

Certain causes of chronic pelvic pain include:

 endometriosis – a condition in which the endometrium grows outside

the uterus (which may cause pain and adhesions),

- musculoskeletal issues, such as increased pelvic floor muscle tone, inflammation within the pubic symphysis, or hernia
- prostatitis,
- chronic inflammation of the pelvis minor, caused by a longterm infection,
- myomas and cysts,
- irritable bowel syndrome,
- irritable bladder syndrome (chronic inflammations),
- psychological factors (depression, chronic stress).

7.3. Physiotherapy treatment

Physiotherapy is recommended for patients in whom the pain is related to the musculoskeletal and fascial system. In these patients, painful musculofascial trigger points can be found in the pelvic floor, as well as in abdominal wall, back, buttock and thigh muscles. It is believed that physiotherapy has a beneficial effect on the functional level, but also on improving the quality of life for these patients. This process should be systematic and cyclical, while the therapy should include assessment, diagnosis and prognosis, intervention and reassessment.

Table 8. Chronic pelvic pain – questions and answers

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Question 1

What causes chronic pelvic pain?

Answer 1

It may be caused by various conditions. Some of them do not involve productive organs, but rather urinary tract or intestines.

Question 2

What tests can be performed to diagnose chronic pelvic pain?

Answer 2

Some of the following imaging tests are available: ultrasound, laparoscopy, cystoscopy or colonoscopy.

Question 3

When should pelvic pain be particularly concerning?

Answer 3

If the symptoms last longer than 24 hours and include fever, shivers, back pain, nausea or vomiting. In these cases, it is necessary to seek medical attention immediately.

Question 4

What is chronic pelvic pain like? Answer 4

It is pain in the pelvic region (below the navel and above the hips. It is considered chronic if it lasts at least 6 months The pain may be constant or recurring, dull or sharp.

Source: own study

Works cited

Arab, A. M., Behbahani, R. B., Lorestani, L., & Azari, A. (2010). Assessment of pelvic floor muscle function in women with and without low back pain using transabdominal ultrasound. Manual Therapy, 15(3), 235–239.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2009.12.005

Benjamin, D. R., Frawley, H. C., Shields, N., van de Water, A. T. M., & Taylor, N. F. (2019). Relationship between diastasis of the rectus abdominis muscle (DRAM) and musculoskeletal dysfunctions, pain and quality of life: A systematic review. Physiotherapy, 105(1), 24–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physio.2018.07.002

Bi, X., Zhao, J., Zhao, L., Liu, Z., Zhang, J., Sun, D., Song, L., & Xia, Y. (2013). Pelvic floor muscle

exercise for chronic low back pain. The Journal of International Medical Research, 41(1), 146–152. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300060513475383

Dong, X.-X., Guo, M., Huang, L.-X., Chen, C., & Hu, J.-H. (2021). The efficacy of manipulation as a treatment for myofascial pelvic pain. International Urology and Nephrology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11255-021-02840-8

Ghai, V., Subramanian, V., Jan, H., Thakar, R., Doumouchtsis, S. K., & CHORUS: An International Collaboration for Harmonising Outcomes, Research and Standards in Urogynaecology and Women's Health. (2021). A meta-synthesis of qualitative literature on female chronic pelvic pain for the development of a core outcome set: A systematic review. International Urogynecology Journal. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00192-021-04713-1

Kolar, P., Sulc, J., Kyncl, M., Sanda, J., Cakrt, O., Andel, R., Kumagai, K., & Kobesova, A. (2012). Postural function of the diaphragm in persons with and without chronic low back pain. The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy, 42(4), 352–362.

https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2012.3830

Langford, C. F., Udvari Nagy, S., & Ghoniem, G. M. (2007). Levator ani trigger point injections: An underutilized treatment for chronic pelvic pain. Neurourology and Urodynamics, 26(1), 59–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.20393

Liu, X. Z., & Wu, A. W. (2021). [Role of multidisciplinary cooperation in the diagnosis and treatment of pelvic floor disorder disease]. Zhonghua Wei Chang Wai Ke Za Zhi = Chinese Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery, 24(4), 306–309.

https://doi.org/10.3760/cma.j.cn.441530-20210107-00006

Masciullo, L., Viscardi, M. F., Piacenti, I., Scaramuzzino, S., Cavalli, A., Piccioni, M. G., & Porpora, M. G. (2021). A deep insight into pelvic pain and endometriosis: A review of the literature from pathophysiology to clinical expressions. Minerva Obstetrics and Gynecology.

https://doi.org/10.23736/S2724-606X.21.04779-1

Ptaszkowski, K., Slupska, L., Paprocka-Borowicz, M., Kołcz-Trzęsicka, A., Zwierzchowski, K., Halska, U., Przestrzelska, M., Mucha, D., & Rosińczuk, J. (2015). Comparison of the Short-Term Outcomes after Postisometric Muscle Relaxation or Kinesio Taping Application for Normalization of the Upper Trapezius Muscle Tone and the Pain Relief: A Preliminary Study. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine: ECAM, 2015, 721938.

https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/721938

Del Forno, S., Cocchi, L., Arena, A., Pellizzone, V., Lenzi, J., Raffone, A., Borghese, G., Paradisi, R., Youssef, A., Casadio, P., Raimondo, D., & Seracchioli, R. (2023). Effects of Pelvic Floor Muscle Physiotherapy on Urinary, Bowel, and Sexual Functions in Women with Deep Infiltrating Endometriosis: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Medicina (Kaunas, Lithuania), 60(1), 67. https://doi.org/10.3390/medicina60010067

Sokmen, D., & Comez, Y. I. (2023). Long-term efficacy and safety of extracorporeal shock wave therapy (Li-ESWT) protocols in the treatment of chronic prostatitis/chronic pelvic pain syndrome (CP/CPPS) patients. The aging male : the official journal of the International Society for the Study of the Aging Male, 26(1), 2253876. https://doi.org/10.1080/13685538.2023.2253876

Lam, C. M..., Keim, S. A., & Latif, U. (2023). Novel implantation technique for pudendal nerve peripheral nerve stimulation for treatment of chronic pelvic pain. Regional anesthesia and pain medicine, 48(11), 567–571. https://doi.org/10.1136/rapm-2023-104551

Kasper-Jędrzejewska, M..., Jędrzejewski, G., Ptaszkowska, L., Ptaszkowski, K., Schleip, R., & Halski, T. (2020). The Rolf Method of Structural Integration and Pelvic Floor Muscle Facilitation: Preliminary Results of a Randomized, Interventional Study. Journal of clinical medicine, 9(12), 3981. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9123981

Ptaszkowska, L., Gorecka, J., Paprocka-Borowicz, M., Walewicz, K., Jarzab, S., Majewska-Pulsakowska, M., Gorka-Dynysiewicz, J., Jenczura, A., & Ptaszkowski, K. (2021). Immediate Effects of Kinesio Taping on Rectus Abdominis Diastasis in Postpartum Women-Preliminary Report. Journal of clinical medicine, 10(21), 5043. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm10215043

Chapter 8

Sexual disorders

8.1. Sexual disorders in men – erectile dysfunction

Erectile dysfunction is a term used to describe persisting inability to attain/maintain erection, preventing one from having satisfactory sexual intercourse. Before starting therapy, it is necessary to determine the cause of the dysfunction. Broadly speaking, the causes can be classified as psychological, neurological, vascular, hormonal, and related to the structure and functioning of the corpora cavernosa. It may also be a complication of systemic diseases, or a side effect of pharmacotherapy. One should also consider other causes, related to sedentary lifestyle, wrong diet and substance use.

Erectile dysfunction diagnosis should include a thorough medical history, encompassing somatic and psychosexual issues related to the current and past sexual life. The necessary data include the duration of this condition, comorbidities, medications taken, substance used, past surgeries. One should also consider symptoms caused by the nervous system and lower urinary tract, as well as the type of medications taken, as they may be the cause of erectile dysfunction.

After prostatectomy, erectile dysfunction treatment should start after careful determination of its causes. Prostatectomy has a significant impact on the patients' sexual life. Nevertheless, their sexual needs and libido often remain unaffected, which is why various possibilities of treatment should be proposed.

Depending on the underlying cause, the following therapeutic options are available:

- hormonal treatment,
- pharmacological treatment,
- physiotherapy,
- injections or autoinjections into corpora cavernosa (vasoactive drugs),
- vacuum devices,
- penile prosthesis,

vascular surgeries.

Rehabilitation of patients with erectile dysfunction employs kinesiotherapy methods (physical activity), physical therapy methods (physical medicine) and behavioural therapy (body weight reduction, diet).

Erectile dysfunction therapy including physical exercise should aim at:

- increasing the strength of the urogenital diaphragm,
- improving the vascularization and blood supply to the penis,
- body weight reduction.

Improvement may be seen if there is no significant damage to the nerves, blood vessels and corpora cavernosa. The training should put emphasis on increasing the strength of the urogenital diaphragm muscles, as they improve the function of the bulbospongiosus muscle and the ischiocavernous muscle (which assist in erections). As part of practical training, it should be explained to the patient how to tense these muscles. It is best to tell them to imagine pulling their penises inside their bodies, or tense the muscles as if trying to stop a stream of urine.

The role of physiotherapists (as integral members of the medical team) in increasing the sexual health of men with erectile dysfunction consists on using manual therapy, therapeutic exercises, magnetic stimulation and electrical stimulation with biofeedback.

8.2. Sexual disorders in women - vulvodynia

Vulvodynia is a chronic pain or discomfort, characterized by a burning, stinging or irritation feeling in female genitalia, if no infection or another dermal disease of the vulva or vagina, which could cause these symptoms, is present. It usually involves stinging pain, but the type and intensity of the symptoms vary between individuals. The pain may be constant or not, focused or spread.

As a result of chronic pain, many patients with vulvodynia develop lesions in the pelvic floor muscles – the so-called basic tension grows (the muscles are always tense) and volitional control is reduced (the women have less control over whether they tense or loosen the muscles). The causes of this disorder include: nerve damage, inflammation, nerve pressure exerted by an intervertebral disk, past surgeries, spine problems, past injuries or childbirth. The medical history should include sexual activity, sensation during intercourse (excessively loose, tight or taut vagina), pain during intercourse, and urinary incontinence during intercourse.

The treatment includes pharmacotherapy (e.g. topical anaesthetics, antidepressant, topical hormonal therapy), physiotherapy (intended to restore proper functioning of the pelvic floor muscles), nerve blocks, diet modifications or psychological help.

Table 9. Sexual disorders in women (vulvodynia) and men(erectile dysfunction) – questions and answers

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Question 1

What are the typical symptoms or erectile dysfunction?

Answer 1

The typical symptoms and signs of erectile dysfunction include:

- inability to maintain stable erection,
- decreased sexual desire.

Question 2

What additional methods of treating erectile dysfunction are available? Answer 2

The method of treating erectile dysfunction will depend on the causes of this ailment. Additional treatment methods include:

- lifestyle changes,
- body weight reduction,
- exercise, giving up alcohol, drugs and smoking.

Question 3

Can stress and anxiety cause vulvodynia?

Answer 3

Yes, they may cause development of an unexplained vulval pain – a chronic condition affecting millions of women. Moreover, progressing vulvodynia may cause new or recurring mood disorders or anxiety.

Question 4 Can exercise help treat vulvodynia? Answer 4 Pelvic floor muscle exercises may help strengthen the pelvic floor, and help you learn how to relax these muscles if necessary.

Source: own study

Works cited

Bardin, M. G., Giraldo, P. C., & Martinho, N. (2020). Pelvic Floor Biometric Changes Assessed by 4D Translabial Ultrassound in Women With Vulvodynia Submitted to Physical Therapy: A Pilot Study of a Randomized Controlled Trial. The Journal of Sexual Medicine, 17(11), 2236–2246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsxm.2020.07.020

Barnabei, V. M. (2020). Vulvodynia. Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology, 63(4), 752–769. https://doi.org/10.1097/GRF.0000000000576

Campbell, S. E., Glazener, C. M., Hunter, K. F., Cody, J. D., & Moore, K. N. (2012). Conservative management for postprostatectomy urinary incontinence. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 1, Cd001843.https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD001843.pub4

Chisari, C., Monajemi, M. B., Scott, W., Moss-Morris, R., & McCracken, L. M. (2021). Psychosocial factors associated with pain and sexual function in women with Vulvodynia: A systematic review. European Journal of Pain (London, England), 25(1), 39–50. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1668

Morin, M., Dumoulin, C., Bergeron, S., Mayrand, M.-H., Khalifé, S., Waddell, G., Dubois, M.-F., & PVD Study Group. (2021). Multimodal physical therapy versus topical lidocaine for provoked vestibulodynia: A multicenter, randomized trial. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 224(2), 189.e1-189.e12.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2020.08.038

Mykoniatis, I., Pyrgidis, N., Sokolakis, I., Ouranidis, A., Sountoulides, P., Haidich, A.-B., van Renterghem, K., Hatzichristodoulou, G., & Hatzichristou, D. (2021). Assessment of Combination Therapies vs Monotherapy for Erectile Dysfunction: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Network Open, 4(2), e2036337.https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.36337

Ruoss, C. M., Howard, E. A., Chan, K., Stevenson, P. G., & Vancaillie, T. (2021). Topical treatment of vulvodynia, dyspareunia and pudendal neuralgia: A single clinic audit of amitriptyline and oestriol in organogel. The Australian & New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 61(2), 270–274. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajo.13292

Stein, A., Sauder, S. K., & Reale, J. (2019). The Role of Physical Therapy in Sexual Health in Men and Women: Evaluation and Treatment. Sexual Medicine Reviews, 7(1), 46–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sxmr.2018.09.003

Tayyeb, M., & Gupta, V. (2021). Dyspareunia. W StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK562159/

Yaacov, D., Nelinger, G., & Kalichman, L. (2021). The Effect of Pelvic Floor Rehabilitation on Males with Sexual Dysfunction: A Narrative Review. Sexual Medicine Reviews. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sxmr.2021.02.001

Kaarbø, M. B., Danielsen, K. G., Helgesen, A. L. O., Wojniusz, S., & Haugstad, G. K. (2023). A conceptual model for managing sexual pain with somatocognitive therapy in women with provoked vestibulodynia and implications for physiotherapy practice. Physiotherapy theory and practice, 39(12), 2539–2552. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593985.2022.2096516

Faucher, S., Déry-Rouleau, G., Bardin, M., & Morin, M. (2024). Investigating the role of the pelvic

floor muscles in sexual function and sexual response: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The journal of sexual medicine, qdad175. Advance online publication.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jsxmed/qdad175

Zachariou, A., Zikopoulos, A., Sapouna, V., Skentou, C., Kaltsas, A., Giannakis, I., Zachariou, D., Dimitriadis, F., Mamoulakis, C., Mai, D. B. T., Phuoc, N. H. V., Takenaka, A., & Sofikitis, N. (2024). Supervised Pelvic Floor Muscle Training Improves Sexual Function and Diminishes Sexual Distress in Women with Relapsing-Remitting Multiple Sclerosis: A Randomised Controlled Study. Journal of personalized medicine, 14(1), 88. https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm14010088

Ptaszkowski, K., Malkiewicz, B., Zdrojowy, R., Ptaszkowska, L., & Paprocka-Borowicz, M. (2020). Assessment of the Short-Term Effects after High-Inductive Electromagnetic Stimulation of Pelvic Floor Muscles: A Randomized, Sham-Controlled Study. Journal of clinical medicine, 9(3), 874. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9030874

Chapter 9

Contemporary methods and modern devices in urological rehabilitation

A growing number of patients with urinary incontinence-related ailments requires medical professionals and research teams to seek and develop innovative treatment methods.

Modern methods are finding their way to urological and urogynaecological rehabilitation, including those involving telemedicine. There are methods of monitoring the progress of rehabilitation in patients using remote devices and applications, which increase the effectiveness of the process. Still, one should bear in mind that individual work with these patients is also constantly changing, and new rehabilitation methods appear all the time, including manual therapy or osteopathy methods (a method of diagnosing and treating the locomotor system dysfunctions in order to restore the homeostatic and functional balance of the body).

One of the latest, innovative methods of physiotherapeutic diagnostics, involving assessment of the pelvic floor muscles, is surface electromyography. Electromyography (EMG) is an electrodiagnostic method used in medical sciences to record and assess the bioelectric activity generated by skeletal muscles. Surface EMG is commonly used in daily physiotherapeutic practice as a tool for providing feedback from the patients' muscles (biofeedback). Scientific publications include numerous reports and evidence confirming the effectiveness of this method in the treatment of pelvic floor dysfunctions. Pelvic floor is usually diagnosed using feedback recorded via vaginal or rectal electrodes.

Currently, there are multiple EMG meters available, with electrodes of different sizes, shapes or number of surfaces for measuring myoelectric potential (fig. 9 and 10).



Fig. 9. Example of electrode application in electromyographic muscle assessment

Source: own study



Fig. 10. Examples of rectal and vaginal electrodes with an EMG device

Source: own study

There also calls for using high-inductive deep electromagnetic field (DEMF – high-inductive, deep-penetrating, pulsed electromagnetic stimulation) to treat pelvic floor ailments. Manufacturers of medical devices recommend the DEMF stimulation as an effective, comprehensive, non-invasive, safe method, also for treating, for instance, the symptoms of urinary incontinence. It is emphasized that this method effects stimulation of the peripheral nervous system, stimulates the muscles, improves the collagen structures and circulation.

The DEMF devices generate induction up to 2.5 tesla at the frequency of up to 50 Hz, which enables penetration of the patient's tissues up to 10 cm deep. This effect of the device triggers a subjective sense of mechanical vibrations and noticeable muscular contractions in the patients, and the procedure itself is non-invasive and painless. A moving, round head 16 cm in diameter ensures precise operation of the device and orientation of the induction field. The device is equipped with a special urogynaecological chair (fig. 11), which means it can be used in the treatment of urinary incontinence, acute and chronic urogynaecological pain, sexual dysfunctions, chronic prostatitis, and other urogynaecological conditions, such as irritable bladder and chronic pelvic pain.



Source: www.btlnet.pl

When using a DEMF device, one should always observe the contraindications, namely: high fever, pregnancy, intrauterine device, cancer, advanced age, cardiac conditions (especially pacemaker implant), metal implants (i.e. endoprostheses, spinal cord and bladder stimulators), past brain surgeries, brain injuries.

List of tables:

Table 1. Urological rehabilitation for women and men	
 ailments treated 	12
Table 2. Degrees of stress incontinence	18
Table 3. Urinary incontinence – questions and answers	22
Table 4. Pre- and postoperative period – questions and answers	27
Table 5. Surgical prostatectomy – questions and answers	32
Table 6. Prolapsed pelvis minor organs – questions and answers	37
Table 7. Perinatal period – questions and answers	43
Table 8. Chronic pelvic pain – questions and answers	47
Table 9. Sexual disorders in women (vulvodynia) and men	
(erectile dysfunction) – questions and answers	51
List of figures:	

List of figures:

Fig.	1 Interdisciplinary team in urological rehabilitation	11
Fig.	2 Urinary incontinence in men and women	17
Fig.	3 Pelvic floor muscles	21
Fig.	4 Pre- and postoperative rehabilitation	25
Fig.	5 Prostate	30
Fig.	6 Pessary ring examples	36
Fig.	7 Diastasis recti	41
Fig.	8 Chronic pelvic pain	45
Fig.	9 Example of electrode application in electromyographic	
	muscle assessment	55
Fig. 2	10 Examples of rectal and vaginal electrodes with	
	an EMG device	55
Fig. 1	11 Example of a DEMF device	56

Summary

Urological physiotherapy, or more broadly defined urological rehabilitation, is becoming a field of growing interest from the public. This involves increased awareness of physiotherapy, as well as ailments such as urinary incontinence and other dysfunctions of the urogenital system. Urological rehabilitation should be carried out by an experienced, multidisciplinary team, consisting of a physician, a psychologist, a physiotherapist, a nurse and a dietician.

In urology, rehabilitation is involved in both pre- and postoperative process and it is an important part of treating urinary incontinence and other pelvic floor dysfunctions, such as: issues after prostatectomy, pelvic organ prolapse, perinatal ailments (e.g. diastasis recti, weak pelvic floor muscles, sexual disorders (e.g. vulvodynia, erectile dysfunction) or chronic pelvic pain.

Most patients suffer from urinary incontinence (stress, urgency, perinatal, after surgeries, including prostatectomy or hysterectomy). Urinary incontinence is an ailment with a detrimental impact on all the aspects of life, by restricting the daily functioning. Both increased awareness of the patients regarding this condition and better access to diagnostics and treatment make it possible to significantly improve the quality of life of those afflicted with this condition. Physiotherapy is a significant component of non-invasive treatment and as such it should be the first-stage therapy. Comprehensive physiotherapeutic treatment relies heavily on pelvic floor muscles training, behavioural therapy and electrical stimulation. It should be noted that the effectiveness of physiotherapy, particularly pelvic floor muscle exercises, in patients with stress incontinency is observed irrespective of the age of the rehabilitees.

It is also worth mentioning the significant role of physiotherapy while preparing patients for urological and gynaecological surgeries, as well as for restoring function afterwards. The goal of the rehabilitation accompanying surgeries is to restore the patient to the pre-surgery level of functioning as soon as possible, and to treat post-surgery complications and functional disorders. It is equally important to prevent these complications and disorders. These goals are achieved by maintaining proper lung ventilation, ensuring proper vascular outflow from the lower limbs, early activation and verticalization, as well as general fitness exercises.

Women with pelvic prolapse form another large portion of the patients. In women during menopause, but also after natural childbirth or surgeries, it is possible for the uterus, bladder and anus to prolapse, due to insufficiency and weakening of pelvic muscles. This causes a number of unpleasant ailments for the patients, including stress urinary incontinence, static disorders of the pelvis minor organs, or chronic pelvic pain.

The perinatal period, particularly puerperium, is a time of physiological and anatomical changes in the woman's body. The most common health problems which may occur during puerperium are: vein thrombosis, stress urinary incontinence, diastasis recti, reduced abdominal or pelvic floor muscle tone. This may favour abdominal and pelvic prolapse, unless the muscles can regain their proper tone. In order to prevent this, an appropriate therapy should be prescribed.

To summarize, urological rehabilitation for men and women (urogynaecological) is becoming an increasingly common medical service, due to a significant need for helping patients with urogenital system dysfunctions. Innovative, safe and efficient physiotherapeutic treatment methods make it possible to reduce ailments and improve the quality of life.

Abstract

Urological physiotherapy or, more broadly, urological rehabilitation, is becoming a field that enjoys increasing social interest. This is linked to greater awareness of physiotherapy as well as medical conditions such as urinary incontinence or other urogenital dysfunctions. Urological rehabilitation should be carried out by an experienced multidisciplinary team, consisting of a doctor, psychologist, physiotherapist, nurse and a dietitian.

In urology, rehabilitation is associated with pre- and postoperative management and is of great importance in the treatment of urinary incontinence and other pelvic floor dysfunctions, such as: ailments after prostate removal, lowering of the pelvic organs, perinatal ailments (e.g. rectal abdominal muscles stretch, muscle weakness pelvic floor), sexual disorders (e.g. vulvodynia, erectile dysfunction) or chronic pelvic pain.

The largest percentage of patients are people with urinary incontinence problems (stress, urgent, after surgery, including removal of the prostate or uterus, perinatal). Urinary incontinence is a condition that negatively affects all aspects of life, limiting everyday functioning. Both the greater awareness of patients about this ailment, as well as better access to diagnostics and treatment, allow to largely improve the quality of life of people suffering from this disease. Physiotherapy is a very important element of conservative treatment, so it should be the first-line therapy. Pelvic floor muscle training, behavioral therapy and electrostimulation play a very important role in complex physiotherapy. It is worth emphasizing that the effectiveness of physical therapy, and in particular of pelvic floor muscle training, in patients with stress urinary incontinence is observed regardless of the age of the people undergoing rehabilitation.

It is also worth paying attention to the great role of physiotherapy in preparing patients for urological and gynecological surgeries and recovery after them. The aim of rehabilitation accompanying surgical procedures is to restore the patient's fitness to the state before surgery as soon as possible and to treat postoperative complications and functional disorders. It is equally important to prevent such complications and disorders. These goals are achieved by maintaining proper lung ventilation, ensuring proper venous outflow from the lower limbs, early mobilization and upright standing, and general fitness exercises.

A large proportion of patients are also women with ailments of lowering pelvic organs. In menopausal women, but also after natural childbirth or surgery, a decrease in the uterus, bladder and rectum may be observed, resulting from insufficient and weakened pelvic floor muscles. This causes a number of unpleasant ailments for the patient, including stress urinary incontinence, disturbances in the statics of the pelvic organs or chronic pelvic pain.

The perinatal period, especially puerperium, is the time of physiological and anatomical changes that take place in the woman's body. The most common health problems that may arise during the puerperium are venous thrombosis, stress urinary incontinence, white line divergence (rectus abdominal muscle stretch), reduction of abdominal muscle tone or pelvic floor muscles. This can help lower the abdominal and pelvic organs if the muscles do not regain proper tone. In order to prevent this, the therapy should be properly selected.

To sum up, urological rehabilitation of men and women (urogynecological) is becoming a more and more common medical service due to the great need to help people with dysfunctions of the genitourinary system. Innovative, safe and effective methods of physiotherapeutic treatment help to reduce symptoms and improve the quality of life.



Urological rehabilitation lab Creator Sp. z o.o., Wrocław, Poland. Photo. Jakub Wieczorek



Urological rehabilitation lab with a sanitary corner. Wrocław, Poland. Photo: Jakub Wieczorek



Urological rehabilitation

Urological rehabilitation involves prophylaxis, diagnostics and treatment of dysfunctions, both in women and men.

Dysfunctions and ailments treated in our patients:

- urinary incontinence and other dysfunctions of the urinary system (irritable bladder, urinary urgency, urination disorders),
- preparation for urological and gynaecological surgery; restoring fitness post-surgery,
- comprehensive rehabilitation after prostatectomy,
- pelvis minor organ prolapse,
- perinatal rehabilitation (weak pelvic floor muscles, diastasis recti, lumbar section pain),
- pelvis minor pain (groin pain, excessive pelvic floor muscle tension, chronic pain, after groin injuries)

sexual disorders (in women: vulvodynia, vaginismus, pain during intercourse; in men: erectile dysfunction, premature ejaculation).

Prophylaxis and Rehabilitation Centre CREATOR Sp. z o.o. ul. Lotnicza 37, 54-154 WROCŁAW, POLAND

telephone no. 71 362 02 20, 537 224 352, e-mail: aos@creator.wroc.pl

Prophylaxis and Rehabilitation Centre CREATOR Sp. z o.o. ul. Kopernika 55a, 90-553 ŁÓDŹ, POLAND tel.: 42 230 10 00, e-mail: lodz@creator.wroc.pl www.creator.wroc.pl





Urological rehabilitation lab Creator Sp. z o.o., Wrocław, Poland. Photo. Jakub Wieczorek.



Urological rehabilitation lab Creator Sp. z o.o., Wrocław, Poland. Photo. Jakub Wieczorek.

Safe company



ISO 9001-2015



Urological rehabilitation

CREATOR Centre's offer for the Patients:

Diagnostics:

- medical history and physical examination,
- ultrasound scan,
- uroflowmetry,
- electromyographic examination.

Therapy:

- exercises for pelvic floor muscles, strengthening, relaxing, posture correction
- biofeedback EMG,
- manual therapy (including postoperative scar),
- ultrasound therapy,
- electrical stimulation
- pessary therapy, -Kinesio tape,
- 🔳 massage,
- behavioural therapy and education

Prophylaxis and Rehabilitation Centre CREATOR Sp. z o.o.

ul. Lotnicza 37, 54-154 WROCŁAW, POLAND telephone no. 71 362 02 20, 537 224 352, e-mail: aos@creator.wroc.pl

Prophylaxis and Rehabilitation Centre CREATOR Sp. z o.o.

ul. Kopernika 55a, 90-553 ŁÓDŹ, POLAND tel.: 42 230 10 00, e-mail: lodz@creator.wroc.pl www.creator.wroc.pl



A healthy choice Creator



ISO 9001-2015

The faces of rehabilitation

Active spinal therapy (DBC)

Local and systemic cryotherapy

Hyperbaric oxygen therapy

Intensive Rehabilitation Centre

Specialist care

Locomotor system rehabilitation

Urological rehabilitation

Cardiological rehabilitation

Rehabilitation for children

Home rehabilitation

Rehabilitation of severely disabled patients

CREATOR Sp. z o.o. 54-154 Wrocław, Lotnicza 37, Poland telephone no. 713 620 200, fax 713 620 201 e-mail: creator@creator.wroc.pl, www.creator.wroc.pl NIP: 9250012902; REGON: 930271489







Urological rehabilitation, as a modern and much needed form of treatment, is becoming an important field due to its enormous social and economic dimension. The demand for rehabilitation for the urogenital system ailments described extensively in this publication, related to the ageing of the society, is constantly growing, and undoubtedly poses a major challenge for the contemporary, comprehensive physiotherapy. Therefore, this guide is highly topical to the current need for certain standardization of the interdisciplinary, pre-and postoperative process, as well as rehabilitation of urinary incontinence or pelvic floor dysfunctions. Consequently, this guide addresses the needs of both physiotherapists and patients, by increasing the awareness regarding the necessity of early and efficient physiotherapy. I hope that this study will contribute to consolidating forms of rehabilitation treatment in broadly-defined urological rehabilitation.

> National consultant on physiotherapy, Prof. extraord. dr hab. Jan Szczegielniak

ISBN 978-83-950277-1-0